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This management’s discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operation
(“MD&A”) of Pinetree Capital Ltd. (“Pinetree” or the “Company”) should be read in conjunction
with Pinetree’s annual audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto as at and for
the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. See “Significant Accounting Policies” elsewhere
in this MD&A.
On January 1, 2011, the Company transitioned from financial reporting under Canadian
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“CGAAP”) to the International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”), for periods commencing on and after that date. Prior to the transition, the
Company prepared its interim and annual financial statements in accordance with CGAAP. The
consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2011, which are
discussed in this MD&A, including all comparative financial information contained in the
statements which has been restated from CGAAP, are the first audited consolidated financial
statements the Company has prepared in accordance with IFRS.
Unless indicated otherwise, all financial data in this MD&A has been prepared in accordance with
IFRS issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). All dollar amounts in this
MD&A are reported in thousands of Canadian dollars, except for securities and per share
amounts.
Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Information:
Certain information contained in this MD&A constitutes forward-looking information, which is
information regarding possible events, conditions or results of operations of the Company that is
based upon assumptions about future economic conditions and courses of action and which is
inherently uncertain. All information other than statements of historical fact may be forwardlooking information. Forward-looking information is often, but not always, identified by the use
of words such as “seek”, “anticipate”, “budget”, “plan”, “continue”, “estimate”, “expect”,
“forecast”, “may”, “will”, “project”, “predict”, “potential”, “targeting”, “intend”, “could”, “might”,
“should”, “believe” and similar words or phrases (including negative variations) suggesting future
outcomes or statements regarding an outlook. Forward-looking information contained in this
MD&A includes, without limitation, our expectations regarding anticipated investment activities
and results and financing activities, our ability to utilize our deferred tax assets, the impact of
changes in accounting policies and other factors on our operating results, and the performance
of global capital markets and interest rates.
Forward-looking information involves known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors
that may cause actual results or events to differ materially from those anticipated in such
forward-looking information. The Company believes the expectations reflected in the forward-

looking information are reasonable but no assurance can be given that these expectations will
prove to be correct and readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking
information contained in this MD&A. Some of the risks and other factors which could cause
results to differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking information contained in
this MD&A include, but are not limited to: risks relating to investment performance and our
ability to generate taxable income from operations, market fluctuations, fluctuations in prices of
commodities underlying our interests and equity investments, the strength of the Canadian, U.S.
and other economies, foreign exchange fluctuations, political and economic conditions in the
countries in which the interests of the Company’s portfolio investments are located, and other
risks included elsewhere in this MD&A under the headings “Risk Factors” and “Financial
Instruments” and in the Company’s current annual information form and other public disclosure
documents filed with certain Canadian securities regulatory authorities and available under
Pinetree’s profile at www.sedar.com.
Readers are cautioned that the foregoing lists of factors are not exhaustive. Although the
Company has attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual events and results
to differ materially from those described in the forward-looking information, there may be other
factors that cause events or results to differ from those intended, anticipated or estimated. The
forward-looking information contained in this MD&A is provided as of the date hereof and the
Company undertakes no obligation to update publicly or revise any forward-looking information,
whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as otherwise required
by law. All of the forward-looking information contained in this MD&A is expressly qualified by
this cautionary statement.
Nature of the Business:
Pinetree was incorporated in 1962 under the laws of the Province of Ontario and its shares are
publicly traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange (the “TSX”) under the symbol “PNP”. The
Company is domiciled in the Province of Ontario, Canada and its registered office address is at
130 King St. West, Suite 2500, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M5X 1A9.
Pinetree is a diversified investment and merchant banking firm focused on the small-cap market.
Pinetree’s investments are primarily in the following resource sectors: Precious Metals, Base
Metals, Oil and Gas, Potash, Lithium and Rare Earths, Uranium and Coal. Pinetree’s investment
approach is to develop a macro view of a sector, build a position consistent with the view by
identifying micro-cap opportunities within that sector, and devise an exit strategy designed to
maximize the Company’s relative return in light of changing fundamentals and opportunities.
Overall Performance:
Fiscal 2011 was a challenging year for the Company with a significant decline in stock prices of
the investments it holds as a result of capital market conditions remaining volatile with
commodity prices falling and from concerns of a global recession and debt defaults by certain
European countries. As a result, the Company recorded a net change in unrealized losses on
investments of $425,697 for the year ended December 31, 2011 and the fair value of the
Company’s investments decreased by 46.5%. However, the Company remains optimistic and
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continued to crystalize its gains by realizing $94,779 of gains by disposing of investments for
proceeds of $325,006 and remained active in the market, purchasing an additional $284,572 of
investments for the year ended December 31, 2011.
During the second quarter of fiscal 2011, the Company issued $75,000 principal amount of 8%
convertible unsecured subordinated debentures maturing May 31, 2016 (the “Debentures”), the
net proceeds of which were used to reduce margin borrowing and for working capital purposes.
Selected financial information for the Company for the indicated periods is provided below:

Operating Results

Three months ended
December 31,
2011
2010

Gains (losses) on disposal of investments, net

$ (17,493) $ 26,888

Year ended
December 31,
2011
2010
$

94,779

$ 43,091

Net change in unrealized gains (losses) on investments
Net investment gains (losses)

15,546
(1,947)

267,528
294,416

(425,697)
(330,918)

341,422
384,513

Profit (loss) for the period
Earnings (loss) per common share based on profit
(loss) for the period – basic
Earnings (loss) per common share based on profit
(loss) for the period – diluted

(6,091)

231,654

(298,341)

297,643

(0.04)

1.70

(2.19)

2.19

(0.04)

1.67

(2.19)

2.16

For the three months ended December 31, 2011, the Company had a net loss of $6,091 ($0.04
per basic share) as compared to profit of $231,654 ($1.70 per basic share) for the three months
ended December 31, 2010. In the current period, the net loss was primarily attributable to the
net realized losses on disposal of investments of $17,493. In the prior year period, the net profit
was primarily due to the net change in unrealized gains on investments of $267,528.
As at December 31, 2011, the Company held investments at fair value totalling $427,669 as
compared to $799,022 as at December 31, 2010 (a 46.5% decrease), a decrease primarily
attributable to the decline in the share prices of our investments.
As at December 31, 2011, total assets less total liabilities was $355,632 as compared to
$646,729 as at December 31, 2010 (a 45.0% decrease). The decrease was primarily from net
change in unrealized investment losses of $425,697 for the year ended December 31, 2011. As
at December 31, 2011, net asset value per share (“NAV per share”) was $2.61 as compared to
$4.74 as at December 31, 2010, a 44.9% decrease (See “Use of Non-GAAP Measures” elsewhere
in this MD&A).
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The following is Pinetree’s NAV per share for the eight most recently completed interim financial
periods which are derived from financial statements prepared under IFRS:
NAV per share
$
2.61
2.64
3.63
4.66
4.74
3.05
2.20
2.66

December 31, 2011
September 30, 2011
June 30, 2011
March 31, 2011
December 31, 2010
September 30, 2010
June 30, 2010
March 31, 2010

Investments:
Investments at cost and fair value consist of the following as at December 31, 2011 and 2010
and January 1, 2010:

Sectors:
Resources:
Precious metals
Base metals
Oil and gas
Potash, lithium and rare earths
Uranium
Coal
Technology and other
Total investments

December 31, 2011
Cost
Fair Value
$

$

309,378
149,180
73,923
52,479
113,142
5,927
42,740
746,769

$ 233,771
61,050
43,125
38,840
28,272
5,320
17,291
$ 427,669

December 31, 2010
Cost
Fair Value
$ 243,164
165,453
58,890
37,324
123,433
16,712
47,447
$ 692,423

$ 316,667
153,221
72,263
66,524
109,720
61,392
19,235
$ 799,022

January 1, 2010
Cost
Fair Value
$ 177,672
159,525
53,068
30,236
118,031
14,781
52,618
$ 605,931

$ 158,027
76,048
34,604
27,103
42,169
6,897
26,413
$ 371,261

The following is the number of investments in each sector as at December 31, 2011 and 2010
and January 1, 2010:

Resources:
Precious metals
Base metals
Oil and gas
Uranium
Potash, lithium and rare earths
Coal
Technology and other

December 31, 2011
% of Total
200
46.1
93
21.4
46
10.6
28
6.5
26
6.0
7
1.6
34
7.8
434
100.0

December 31, 2010
177
93
48
49
20
4
38
429

% of Total
41.3
21.7
11.2
11.4
4.7
0.9
8.9
100.0

January 1, 2010
144
107
47
52
28
8
46
432

% of Total
33.3
24.8
10.9
12.0
6.5
1.9
10.6
100.0

The total number of investments held by the Company remained relatively constant. As at
December 31, 2011, 400 out of 434, or 92.2% (December 31, 2010 – 91.2%; January 1, 2010 –
89.4%), of the investments were in the resources sector. As at December 31, 2011, resource
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companies represented $410,378 (96.0%) of the fair value of the investments as compared to
$779,787 (97.6%) as at December 31, 2010 and $344,848 (92.9%) as at January 1, 2010.
The fair value of the investments held by the Company as at December 31, 2011 decreased by
46.5% to $427,669 from $799,022 as at December 31, 2010 and increased by 15.2% from
$371,261 as at January 1, 2010. The cost base of the Company’s portfolio was $746,769 as at
December 31, 2011, as compared to $692,423 as at December 31, 2010 and $605,931 as at
January 1, 2010. As such, as at December 31, 2011, the cost of investments exceeded fair
value by $319,100 as compared to fair value of investments exceeding cost by $106,599 as at
December 31, 2010, a decrease of $425,699, while the cost of investments exceeding fair value
by $234,670 as at January 1, 2010, a decrease of $84,430.
The fair value of Pinetree’s publicly-traded investments is determined in accordance with the
Company’s accounting policy (see “Significant Accounting Policies”). The amounts at which the
Company’s publicly-traded investments could be disposed of currently may differ from their
carrying values based on market quotes, as the value at which significant ownership positions
are sold is often different than the quoted market price due to a variety of factors such as
premiums paid for large blocks or discounts due to illiquidity, and current market prices may
differ significantly from the historical prices used to calculate fair value for the purposes of the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.
As at December 31, 2011, included in total investments were securities of private companies
with a fair value totalling $29,076 (6.8% of total fair value of the Company’s investments; cost of
$32,996). As at December 31, 2010, included in total investments were securities of private
companies with a fair value totalling $23,428 (3.0% of total fair value of the Company’s
investments; cost of $34,006). As at January 1, 2010, included in total investments were
securities of private companies with a fair value totalling of $32,731 (8.8% of total fair value of
the Company’s investments; cost of $41,346). The fair value was determined in accordance with
the Company’s accounting policy for private company investments (see “Significant Accounting
Policies”). The amounts at which the Company’s private company investments could be
disposed of currently may differ from their carrying values since there is no active market to
dispose of these investments.
All investments are classified at fair value through profit or loss, with changes in fair value
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Refer to notes 4 and 5 of the Notes to
the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2011 for other
details about the Company’s investments.

5

Results of Operations:
The Company’s selected annual information as at and for the three most recently completed
financial years ended December 31 are as follows (information from 2009’s consolidated
statement of comprehensive income was reported under CGAAP):
2011
Net investment gains (losses)
Profit (loss) for the year
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year
Earnings (loss) per share based on profit (loss)
for the year – basic
Earnings (loss) per share based on profit (loss)
for the year – diluted

$

Total assets
Total liabilities
Shareholders’ equity

2010
384,513
297,643
297,621

2009
(CGAAP)
$
207,172
157,393
157,393

(2.19)

2.19

1.19

(2.19)

2.16

1.18
(IFRS)
399,131
53,813
345,318

(330,918)
(298,341)
(298,341)

$

443,619
87,987
335,632

822,121
175,392
646,729

The Company’s selected quarterly results for the eight most recently completed interim financial
periods are as follows. The effect of the changeover from IFRS to CGAAP has not materially
affected the restated quarters.
Quarter ended (unaudited)

Net investment losses
Loss for the period
Total comprehensive loss for the period
Loss per share based on loss for the
period – basic
Loss per share based on loss for the
period – diluted

December 31,
2011
$ (1,947)
(6,091)
(6,082)

September 30,
2011
$ (154,038)
(136,394)
(136,392)

June 30, 2011

(0.04)

(1.00)

(1.06)

(0.08)

(0.04)

(1.00)

(1.06)

(0.08)

December 31, 2010
Net investment gains (losses)
Profit (loss) for the period
Total comprehensive income (loss) for
the period
Earnings (loss) per share based on profit
(loss) for the period – basic
Earnings (loss) per share based on profit
(loss) for the period – diluted

$

$

(162,139)
(144,656)
(144,654)

June 30, 2010

March 31, 2011
$

(12,794)
(11,200)
(11,213)

294,416
231,654

September 30,
2010
$
142,180
114,628

March 31, 2010

231,633

114,628

(62,115)

13,475

1.70

0.84

(0.46)

0.10

1.67

0.84

(0.46)

0.10

$ (73,099)
(62,117)

$

6

21,016
13,478

Three Months Ended December 31, 2011 and 2010:
Overall, the effect on the Company’s results of operations from the changeover to IFRS from
CGAAP was not material. There was no material change to earnings per share from the amounts
as previously reported under CGAAP. The results for the three months ended December 31,
2010 have been restated to reflect the adoption of IFRS.
For the three months ended December 31, 2011, the Company generated net realized losses on
disposal of investments of $17,493, as compared to net realized gains on disposal of investments
of $26,888 for the three months ended December 31, 2010.
For the three months ended December 31, 2011, the Company had a net change in unrealized
gains on investments of $15,546 as compared to $267,528 for the three months ended
December 31, 2010. Net change in unrealized gains for the three months ended December 31,
2011, was comprised of $12,136 from the write-up to market on the Company’s investments and
$3,410 from the reversal of previously recognized net unrealized losses on the disposal of
investments. Of the net unrealized gains for the three months ended December 31, 2010,
$262,593 arose from the write-up to market on the Company’s investments and by $4,935 from
the reversal of previously recognized net unrealized losses on the disposal of investments during
the three months ended December 31, 2010.
For the three months ended December 31, 2011, other income totalled $324 as compared to
$191 for the three months ended December 31, 2010. Other income is comprised of interest
and dividend income of $23 (three months ended December 31, 2010 - $45) and $167 (three
months ended December 31, 2010 – $146) from consulting fees, rental income, and other fees
and $134 from securities lending revenue.
Operating, general and administrative expenses for the three months ended December 31, 2011
decreased to $3,535 from $28,757 in the three months ended December 31, 2010. Following is
the breakdown of operating, general and administrative expenses for the indicated three month
periods ended December 31. Details of the changes between periods follow the table:

Stock-based compensation expense (a)
Salaries, bonuses, and other employment benefits (b)
Transaction costs
Professional fees (c)
Travel and promotion (d)
Consulting and directors fees (e)
Transfer agent, filing fees, and other information systems
Operating lease payments
Other office and general
Amortization
Exploration and evaluation expenditures
Foreign exchange loss (gain)
Change in fair value of Class C preferred shares

$

2011
2010
1,022
$
536
644
25,998
556
721
347
134
220
90
193
566
159
122
141
110
132
316
68
34
34
20
(135)
(1)
265
$ 3,535 $ 28,757
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(a)

Stock-based compensation expense increased by $486 as compared to the three months
ended December 31, 2010. Stock-based compensation expense will vary from period to
period depending upon the number of options granted and vested during a period and the
fair value of the options calculated as at the grant date. The increase in the current period
resulted from a greater number of stock options granted during the current year period,
and higher fair values of the options. See “Significant Accounting Policies – Stock-based
compensation expense” for details of how the Company accounts for stock-based
compensation expense.

(b)

Salaries, bonuses, and other employment benefits decreased by $25,354 as compared to
the three months ended December 31, 2010. The decrease was primarily due to a bonus
accrual and related employer health tax (“EHT”) totaling $25,257 to the Company’s
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”) in the three months ended December 31,
2010 as compared to no bonus accrual in the three months ended December 31, 2011. The
Company records a bonus accrual (if any) quarterly based on quarter-end results (and
subsequent quarterly adjustments/reversals), although the CEO’s entitlement to receive a
bonus is only determined based on year-end results as at December 31. Excluding the
bonus, the remaining increase of $97 was attributable to hiring additional staff during
2011.

(c)

Professional fees increased by $213 as compared to the three months ended December 31,
2010. The increase relates to professional fees accrued for audit and tax fees for 2011 in
the three months ended December 31, 2011. In the prior year quarter, the accrual for
audit and tax fees was recorded evenly throughout the year. Under IFRS, expenses are
recorded when the service is performed.

(d)

Travel and promotion increased by $130 as compared to the three months ended
December 31, 2010. The increase was due to an increase in travelling related to the
Company’s investment activities.

(e)

Consulting and director’s fees decreased by $373 as compared to the three months ended
December 31, 2010. The decrease was primarily due to bonuses accrued of $350 in the
three months ended December 31, 2010 to consultants who performed officer duties while
there were no bonuses accrued in the three months ended December 31, 2011.

Excluding the bonus accruals and stock-based compensation expense, operating, general and
administrative expenses during the three months ended December 31, 2011 decreased by
18.9% to $2,513 from $3,097 for the three months ended December 31, 2010.
Finance expense increased to $1,934 in the three months ended December 31, 2011 as
compared to $220 in the three months ended December 31, 2010. The increase was primarily
attributable to $1,643 of interest expense accrued and $193 of amortized finance costs in
respect of the Debentures.
The Company recorded an income tax benefit in the three months ended December 31, 2011 of
$1,001 as compared to an income tax expense of $33,976 in the three months ended December
31, 2010. The income tax benefit in the current period was primarily due to an increase in the
excess of tax cost over fair value of investments held at the end of the period.
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Loss for the three months ended December 31, 2011 was $6,091 ($0.04 per share) as compared
to profit of $231,654 ($1.70 per share) for the three months ended December 31, 2010.
Year Ended December 31, 2011 and 2010:
The results for the year ended December 31, 2010 have been restated to reflect the adoption of
IFRS. A reconciliation of the restated amounts can be found in Note 21 of the notes to the
consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2011.
For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company generated net realized gains on disposal
of investments of $94,779 as compared to $43,091 for the year ended December 31, 2010. The
change reflects an increase in the number of dispositions during the year versus the previous
year.
For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company had a net change in unrealized losses on
investments of $425,697 as compared to a net change in unrealized gains on investments of
$341,422 for the year ended December 31, 2010. Net change in unrealized losses for the year
ended December 31, 2011, was comprised of $311,497 from the write-down to market of the
Company’s investments and $114,200 from the reversal of previously recognized net unrealized
gains on the disposal of investments. Of the net unrealized gains for the year ended December
31, 2010, $342,086 arose from the write-up to market of the Company’s investments offset by
$664 from the reversal of previously recognized net unrealized gains on the disposal of
investments during the year ended December 31, 2010.
For the year ended December 31, 2011, other income totalled $1,840 as compared to $1,639 for
the year ended December 31, 2010. Other income is comprised of interest and dividend income
of $50 (2010 - $1,054) and $716 (2010 – $585) from consulting fees, rental income, and other
fees and $1,074 from securities lending revenue. Interest and dividend income is earned on
certain of the Company’s investments.
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Operating, general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2011
decreased by $29,598 to $13,816 from $43,414 in the year ended December 31, 2010. The
following is the breakdown of operating, general and administrative expenses for the indicated
year ended December 31. Details of the changes between periods follow the table:

Stock-based compensation expense (a)
Transaction costs (b)
Salaries, bonuses, and other employment benefits (c)
Other office and general (d)
Consulting and directors fees (e)
Transfer agent, filing fees, and other information systems (f)
Exploration and evaluation expenditures (g)
Professional fees (h)
Travel and promotion
Operating lease payments
Amortization
Foreign exchange loss (gain)
Change in fair value of Class C preferred shares

2011
4,287
2,306
2,425
958
782
755
695
685
578
479
235
(141)
(228)
$ 13,816

$

2010
2,600
1,532
35,065
636
1,127
357
908
357
440
134
47
211
$ 43,414
$

(a)

Stock-based compensation expense increased by $1,687 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2010. Stock-based compensation expense will vary from period to period
depending upon the number of options granted and vested during a period and the fair
value of the options calculated as at the grant date. The increase in the current period
resulted from a greater number of stock options granted during the current year period,
and higher fair values of the options.

(b)

Transaction costs increased by $774 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2010.
The increase was due to an increase in the volume of trading conducted by the Company
during the current year. Transaction costs arise from purchases and dispositions of
investments through brokers, which are expensed immediately in accordance with the
Company’s accounting policy for investments.

(c)

Salaries, bonuses and other employment benefits decreased by $32,640 as compared to
the year ended December 31, 2010. The decrease was primarily due to a bonus accrual
and related EHT totaling $32,846 to the CEO (as previously discussed) in 2010 as
compared to no bonus accrual in 2011. Excluding the bonus, the remaining increase of
$206 was primarily attributable to hiring additional staff during 2011.

(d)

Other office and general expenses increased by $322 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2010. The decrease was primarily due to an accrual of $385 for capital tax
in one of the Company’s subsidiaries in fiscal 2009 which was reversed in the first quarter
of 2010.

(e)

Consulting and director’s fees decreased by $345 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2010. The decrease was primarily due to bonus expense of $400 in the year
ended December 31, 2010 to consultants who performed officer duties while there were no
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bonuses accrued in 2011. Excluding the bonuses, the remaining increase of $55 was
primarily attributable to an increase in consultancy fees.
(f)

Transfer agent, filing fees, and other information systems increased by $398 as compared
to the year ended December 31, 2010. The increase primarily relates to an increase in
information systems the Company utilizes to monitor its investments.

(g)

In June 2010, the Company, through a consortium, was awarded a 10% interest in the
Samuel License, an Israeli offshore petroleum license. During the year ended December
31, 2011, the consortium commenced seismic testing on the property and the Company
has expensed $695 relating to the seismic testing of this block.

(h)

Professional fees decreased by $223 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2010.
The decrease in professional fees is primarily due to an decrease in legal and advisory
services.

Excluding the bonus accrual and stock-based compensation expense, operating, general and
administrative expenses during the year ended December 31, 2011 increased by $1,961 (25.9%)
to $9,529 from $7,568, as described above.
Finance expense increased by $4,586 to $5,248 in the year ended December 31, 2011 as
compared to $662 in the year ended December 31, 2010, due to $4,058 of interest expense and
$478 of amortization of the finance expenses on the Debentures and higher interest costs
incurred as a result of increased margin borrowings earlier in the current year.
The Company recorded an income tax benefit in the year ended December 31, 2011 of $49,801
as compared to an income tax expense of $44,433 in the year ended December 31, 2010. The
income tax benefit in the current year arose primarily from the excess of tax cost over fair value
of investments held at the end of the year.
Loss for the year ended December 31, 2011 was $298,341 ($2.19 per share) as compared to
profit of $297,643 ($2.19 per share) for the year ended December 31, 2010. The net loss in the
current year was primarily due to the accounting recognition of the decrease in the fair value of
the Company’s investments in accordance with Pinetree’s accounting policies.
For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company had an exchange loss on translation of
foreign operations of nil as compared to $22 for the year ended December 31, 2010. As a
result, total comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2011 was $298,341 as
compared to total comprehensive income of $297,621 for the year ended December 31, 2010.
Cash Flow:
Net cash used in operating activities was $44,154 in the year ended December 31, 2011 as
compared to $10,769 in the year ended December 31, 2010. During the year ended
December 31, 2011, the Company paid out an accrued bonus of $32,218 to its CEO and paid the
related EHT of $628 (which was included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities as at
December 31, 2010).
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In the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company generated net cash in financing activities of
$4,135 as compared to $53,032 in the year ended December 31, 2010. In the year ended
December 31, 2011, the Company repaid $66,792 in margin borrowings from brokers and paid
$60 in the redemption of Class C preferred shares offset by net proceeds of $70,912 from the
issue of the Debentures and total proceeds of $231 from the exercise of stock options. The
Company also used $156 to buy back 100,000 of its common shares under the normal course
issuer bid. In the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company used $51,897 in margin
borrowings from brokers and received total proceeds of $1,190 from the exercise of stock
options.
In the year ended December 31, 2011, net cash generated in investing activities was $40,063 as
compared to cash used of $42,487 in the year ended December 31, 2010. During the year
ended December 31, 2011, the Company had proceeds from disposition of investments of
$325,006, an increase of $137,769, when compared to $187,237 of proceeds from dispositions
in the year ended December 31, 2010. In the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company
purchased $284,572 of investments, an increase of $54,865 as compared to $229,707 of
investment purchases in the year ended December 31, 2010. In the year ended December 31,
2011, the Company also purchased additional property, plant and equipment of $371 as
compared to $17 in the year ended December 31, 2010.
For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company had a net increase in cash and cash
equivalents of $44 as compared to a net decrease in cash and cash equivalents of $224 for the
year ended December 31, 2010. For the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company also had
a loss from the exchange difference on the translation of foreign operations of $22. As at
December 31, 2011, the Company had a cash and cash equivalents balance of $202 as
compared to $158 as at December 31, 2010.
Liquidity and Capital Resources:
Pinetree relies upon various sources of funds for its ongoing operational and investing activities.
These sources include proceeds from dispositions of investments, interest and dividend income
from investments, consulting fees, capital raising activities such as private placement debt and
equity financings, and corporate borrowings from the Company’s bank, brokers (margin account)
and the CEO.
In December 2008, as part of the Company’s capital management activities, Pinetree
renegotiated an existing $25,000 credit facility (the “Credit Facility”) provided by the CEO. The
Company allocates its borrowings between the Credit Facility and available margin from brokers,
depending upon market conditions and other factors. The Credit Facility now matures on
December 31, 2012, bears interest at a rate of 1% per month on the outstanding principal
amount and has a standby fee of 0.25% per annum on the undrawn portion of the Credit Facility
calculated daily and payable monthly in arrears. The Credit Facility is secured under a General
Security Agreement (the “GSA”), which covers all present and future tangible and intangible
property of the Company subject to any security interests ranking in priority thereto, which
would include the security interests underlying the Company’s operating line of credit with Royal
Bank of Canada (“RBC”) and the Company’s brokers in respect to its margin borrowings. As at
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December 31, 2011 and 2010 and January 1, 2010, there was nil outstanding under the Credit
Facility.
On May 17, 2011, the Company issued $75,000 principal amount of 8% convertible unsecured
subordinated debentures maturing May 31, 2016. The Debentures are convertible into common
shares of the Company on the basis of a conversion price of $4.25 per share (“Conversion
Price”), subject to adjustment under certain circumstances. After May 31, 2014, the Company
may redeem the Debentures in whole or in part provided the weighted average trading price of
the Company’s common shares during a specified period prior to redemption is at least 125% of
the Conversion Price. The Company may satisfy the payment of principal or interest in common
shares under certain circumstances. The Debentures are subject to certain covenants, including
maintenance of certain financial ratios, restrictions on redemption, and restrictions on the
prepayment and payment of interest on the Debentures. As at December 31, 2011, the
Company was in compliance with the terms of its convertible debentures. The proceeds of the
issue of Debentures were used to reduce margin borrowings from brokers and for working
capital purposes.
Pinetree believes it will be able to generate sufficient cash to fund its operations through the
normal course of sales of existing investments and from existing credit facilities.

Consolidated Statements of financial position
Highlights
Investments at fair value
Total assets
Total liabilities
Share capital, warrants and broker warrants, contributed
surplus, equity component of convertible debentures
and foreign currency translation reserve
Retained earnings (deficit)
NAV per share – Basic
NAV per share – Diluted

December 31,
2011
$

$
$

427,669
443,619
87,987

380,921
(25,289)
2.61
1.89

December 31,
2010
$
799,022
822,121
175,392

$
$

373,677
273,052
4.74
3.88

January 1,
2010
$
371,261
399,131
53,813

369,909
(24,591)
2.55
2.07

$
$

As at December 31, 2011, the fair value of the Company’s investments decreased to $427,669
from $799,022 as at December 31, 2010, a decrease of 46.5%, and increased from $371,261 as
at January 1, 2010, an increase of 15.2%. NAV per share (basic) decreased 44.9% to $2.61
from $4.74 as at December 31, 2010, and increased 2.4% from $2.55 as at January 1, 2010.
(See “Use of Non-GAAP Measures” elsewhere in this MD&A.)
The Company’s publicly-traded investments are listed on various stock exchanges (or quotation
systems), including those in Canada, the United States, Australia, Israel, and England, thereby
offering potential sources of liquidity and cash flow for Pinetree. During the year ended
December 31, 2011, the Company disposed of investments for proceeds of $325,006, and
purchased investments totaling $284,572, as noted above in the Cash Flow section, the net
proceeds were used to reduce amounts due to brokers (margin used).
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Liabilities:
As at December 31, 2011, total liabilities decreased to $87,987 as compared to $175,392 as at
December 31, 2010, a 49.8% decrease. The decrease from December 31, 2010 was primarily
due to a decrease in due to brokers and deferred tax liabilities and the payment of accrued
liabilities offset by the issue of the Debentures.
As at December 31, 2011, the Company had due to brokers of $18,778 as compared to $85,570
as at December 31, 2010, a decrease of $66,792 and $33,673 as at January 1, 2010, a decrease
of $14,895. Due to brokers (margin accounts) consists of margin borrowings collateralized by
the Company’s investments held at brokers. In the normal course of business, the Company
utilizes the margin borrowings to finance its investment activities. Interest is charged on the
daily outstanding balance at a rate equal to the broker’s overnight rate plus 0.40%.
During the year ended December 31, 2009, Pinetree’s wholly owned subsidiary, Pinetree Capital
Investment Corp. (“PCIC”), completed brokered and non-brokered private placements of an
aggregate of 31,900 Class C Shares of PCIC at price of $10 per share for gross proceeds of
$319. Pinetree owns directly and indirectly all Class A preferred shares, Class B preferred
shares, and common shares of PCIC.
During the year ended December 31, 2011, 3,400 Class C Shares were cancelled by PCIC
following their retraction by the holders at prices of between $7.49 per share and $21.22 per
share plus accrued and unpaid dividends. As at December 31, 2011, 24,100 Class C Shares
(December 31, 2010 – 27,500 Class C Shares; January 1, 2010 – 31,900 Class C Shares) were
issued and outstanding. The Class C Shares are non-voting, redeemable and retractable at any
time, and entitle the holders thereof to receive cumulative dividends at a rate of 5% per annum
until December 30, 2010 and at a rate of 8% per annum thereafter. During the year ended
December 31, 2011, $19 (2010 - $16) in dividends were declared and paid.
The Class C Shares’ redemption and retraction prices are linked to the market price of the
Company’s common shares, subject to a minimum redemption price of $10 per share. As at
December 31, 2011, the redemption price was $10 per share and the retraction price in effect
was $7.87 per share (December 31, 2010 - $19.25 per share; January 1, 2010 - $11.69 per
share). Accordingly, as at December, 2011, the Company recorded a decrease in the fair value
of the Class C Shares of $228 (2010 – an increase in the fair value of $211) which was
recognized in operating, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income (loss).
As at December 31, 2011, the Company had Class C preferred share liabilities of $241
(December 31, 2010 - $529; January 1, 2010 - $373).
In May 2011, the Company issued $75,000 principal amount of Debentures. As at December 31,
2011, the Company has a carrying value of $67,839 in Debentures ($75,000 principal amount).
As at December 31, 2011, included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities was $510 of
accrued interest in respect to the Debentures. See Liquidity and Capital Resources section
elsewhere in this MD&A.
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The Company has an operating line of credit with RBC for up to $250 (which was reduced from
$1,000 in August 2010), collateralized by the Company’s assets, which it uses from time to time.
The operating line of credit bears interest at RBC’s prime rate plus 0.75% and is due on demand.
As at December 31, 2011 and 2010 and January 1, 2010, the Company had repaid all
outstanding amounts used on the operating line.
As at December 31, 2010, included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities was an accrued
bonus of $32,218 due to the CEO. Pursuant to the CEO’s employment agreement effective
January 1, 2010, he is entitled to receive an annual bonus equal to 10% of the increase, if any,
in the value of the Company’s (adjusted) shareholders’ equity. During the year ended December
31, 2011, the accrued bonus was paid in full to the CEO. For the year ended December 31,
2011, nil bonus was accrued to the CEO.
As at December 31, 2010, the Company had deferred tax liabilities of $55,199 (nil as at
December 31, 2011). The deferred tax liabilities were primarily attributable to applying the
expected tax rate for future years at a capital gains rate to the excess of fair value over tax cost
on investments held at each reporting period. As at December 31, 2011, the tax cost was in
excess of the fair value of investments which results in deferred tax assets.
Commitments:
As at December 31, 2011, the Company had material commitments for cash resources of
$130,391 (December 31, 2010 - $182,366; January 1, 2010 - $59,141) which are detailed below.
The disposition of the Company’s investments in the normal course would be sufficient to pay
these material commitments.
A breakdown of the Company’s liabilities and obligations as at December 31, 2011 is as follows:

Liabilities and obligations
Due to brokers
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Investment commitments
Class C preferred share liabilities
Convertible debentures (principal amount)
Interest on convertible debentures
Lease commitments

Total
$

$

18,778
1,129
1,017
241
75,000
27,001
7,225
130,391

Payments due by period
4–5
Less than 1
1–3
years
year
years
$ 18,778 $
- $
1,129
1,017
241
75,000
6,510
18,000
2,491
590
1,770
1,187
$ 28,265 $ 19,770 $ 78,678
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After 5
years
$
3,678
$ 3,678

A breakdown of the Company’s liabilities and obligations as at December 31, 2010 is as follows:

Liabilities and obligations
Due to brokers
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Class C preferred share liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Investment commitments
Lease commitments

Total
$

$

85,570
34,094
529
55,199
4,917
2,057
182,366

Payments due by period
4–5
Less than 1
1–3
years
year
years
$
85,570 $
- $
34,094
529
55,199
4,917
689
1,368
$ 125,799 $ 56,567 $

-

After 5
years
$
$
-

-

After 5
years
$
$
-

A breakdown of the Company’s liabilities and obligations as at January 1, 2010 is as follows:

Liabilities and Obligations
Due to brokers
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Class C preferred share liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Investment commitments
Lease commitments

Total
$

$

33,673
6,824
373
12,943
2,621
2,707
59,141

Payments Due by Period
4–5
Less than 1
1–3
years
year
year
$
33,673 $
- $
6,824
373
12,943
2,621
650
2,057
$
44,141 $ 15,000 $

The Class C Shares are redeemable and/or retractable at any time. PCIC does not intend to
redeem the Class C Shares in the foreseeable future.
The Company has $75,000 principal amount the Debentures due outstanding and interest is
payable semi-annually with the first payment on November 30, 2011. If there are no
retractions or conversions of the Debentures, the Company will be required to pay approximately
$6,000 annually in interest expense to the holders.
During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company renewed its lease commitment for its
premises starting August 1, 2011 for annual payments of approximately $583 ($49 monthly)
until July 31, 2017 and approximately $613 ($51 monthly) until December 31, 2023. The
Company also has consulting agreements with officers representing approximately $44 per
month that are automatically renewed annually.
The Company has committed and is required to meet all of its cash calls related to the
exploration and evaluation of the oil and gas property (Samuel License) as they become due to
maintain the Company’s 10% interest. These expenditure obligations are not fixed and cannot
be pre-determined with certainty. Failure to meet the obligations may result in the loss or
reduction of the Company’s ownership interest.
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Related Party Transactions:
All transactions with related parties have occurred in the normal course of operations.
(a)

Related party transactions were as follows during the year ended December 31:
Type of service

Nature of relationship

Salaries, consulting fees and other benefits
Bonuses
Director fees
Stock-based compensation expense
Finance expense (i)

Officers
Officers
Directors
Directors and officers
Officer

(i)

2011
$

1,563
151
3,239
78

2010
$

1,997
32,593
159
2,385
183

The Company has a Credit Facility with the CEO. Included in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive loss is $78 (2010 - $183) of standby fee expense
relating to the Credit Facility. As at December 31, 2011 and 2010 and January 1,
2010, there was nil outstanding under the Credit Facility.

(b)

In May 2011, the Company issued the Debentures as previously discussed. Of the $75,000
principal amount of the Debentures, $1,425 was issued to directors and officers of the
Company.

(c)

Advances to related parties:
Related parties:
Starting balance (i)
Advances
Repayments
Interest charged
Reclassification (ii)
Ending balance

December 31,
2011
$
-

January 1,
December 31,
2010
2010
$
75 $
75
282
(75)
10
(292)
75

(i)

As at January 1, 2010, the Company had a loan receivable from an officer of the
Company totaling $75 which was repaid in full on January 29, 2010. The loan bore
interest at RBC’s prime rate plus 1% per annum, compounded monthly. The loan was
used by the officer to purchase investments and was collateralized by those
investments.

(ii)

On March 10, 2010, the Company entered into an agreement with AlphaNorth 2010
Flow-Through Limited Partnership (the “Fund”), a limited partnership established
under the laws of Ontario, pursuant to which the Company agreed to provide funds
to the Fund, from time to time, of up to $500 principal amount in the form of a
revolving term loan. Funds provided by Pinetree under the loan bear interest at a rate
equal to prime plus 2% and are secured by a general security agreement over the
Fund’s assets. During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company advanced
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$282 and accrued interest of $10 to the Fund. At the time of the agreement, the
Company had a common director and owned a 20% interest in the Fund’s general
partner, AlphaNorth General Partner Inc. (“AGP”). As at December 31, 2010, the
Company no longer had a common director with AGP and, as a result, reclassified its
loan to the Fund as a receivable.
No provision for impairment has been made on any of the loans.
(d)

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company granted to directors and officers
the following options:
Date Granted
March 31, 2011
May 31, 2011
August 31, 2011
November 30, 2011
Total granted

Options Granted
1,170,000
250,000
250,000
1,350,000
3,020,000

Exercise Price
$
3.17
2.93
1.92
1.61

Expiry
March 30,
May 30,
August 30,
November 30,

2016
2016
2016
2016

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company granted to directors and officers
the following options:
Date Granted
April 1, 2010
June 1, 2010
September 1, 2010
December 1, 2010
Total granted

Options Granted
250,000
1,165,000
250,000
250,000
1,915,000

Exercise Price
$
1.83
1.46
1.41
3.23

Expiry
March 31,
May 31,
August 31,
November 30,

2015
2015
2015
2015

Off-Statement of Financial Position Arrangements:
The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have, or are reasonably
likely to have, a current or future effect on the results of operations or financial condition of
Pinetree.
Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting:
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Company is required annually to review and report on the effectiveness of its disclosure
controls and procedures (“DC&P”) in accordance with National Instrument 52-109, “Certification
of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings”, (“NI 52-109”) issued by the Canadian
Securities Administrators. NI 52-109 requires a Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and a Chief
Financial Officer (“CFO”) to certify that they are responsible for establishing and maintaining
DC&P for the issuer, that DC&P have been designed and are effective in providing reasonable
assurance that material information relating to the issuer is made known to them, that they have
evaluated the effectiveness of the issuer’s DC&P, and that their conclusions about the
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effectiveness of those DC&P at the end of the period covered by the relevant annual filings have
been disclosed by the issuer.
The CEO and CFO have evaluated the design of the Company’s DC&P as at December 31, 2011
and have concluded that the DC&P were effective in ensuring that information required to be
disclosed by the Company in its corporate filings is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the required time period for the year then ended.
A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not
absolute, assurance that its objectives are met. Due to inherent limitations in all such systems,
no evaluations of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues, if any, within a
company have been detected. In addition, the design of any system of control is based upon
certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that
any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all future events, no matter how
remote, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may not deteriorate.
Accordingly, the Company’s DC&P are effective in providing reasonable, not absolute, assurance
that the objectives of our disclosure control system have been met.
Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting
NI 52-109 also requires CEOs and CFOs to certify that they are responsible for establishing and
maintaining internal controls over financial reporting (“ICFR”) for the issuer, that the ICFR have
been designed and are effective in providing reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP, and that
the issuer has disclosed any changes in its internal controls during its most recent interim period
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, its ICFR.
The design and operating effectiveness of the Company’s ICFR were evaluated by the CEO and
CFO in accordance with criteria established in the Internal Control Integrated Framework issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) and NI 52109, as at December 31, 2011. The CEO and CFO have evaluated the ICFR as at December 31,
2011. The CEO and CFO have not identified in their review any weaknesses that have materially
affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect Pinetree’s ICFR. Based on this evaluation,
the CEO and CFO have concluded that the Company’s ICFR were effective in providing
reasonable assurance that its financial reporting is reliable and its consolidated financial
statements were prepared in accordance GAAP.
There were no changes in the Company’s ICFR that occurred during the three months and year
ended December 31, 2011, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect the Company’s ICFR.
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Management of Capital:
The Company includes the following items in its managed capital as at the following periods:

Due to brokers
Class C preferred share liabilities, at fair value
Convertible debentures, due May 31, 2016
Shareholders’ equity comprised of:
Share capital
Warrants and broker warrants
Contributed surplus
Equity component of convertible debentures
Foreign currency translation reserve
Retained earnings (deficit)

December 31,
2011
$
18,778
241
67,839

$

276,797
66,524
34,740
2,882
(22)
(25,289)
442,490

December 31,
2010
$
85,570
529
-

$

276,616
66,524
30,559
(22)
273,052
732,828

January 1,
2010
$
33,673
373
-

$

274,725
67,139
28,045
(24,591)
379,364

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of its underlying assets. There were no changes
to the Company’s objectives in managing and maintaining capital during the year ended
December 31, 2011.
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are:
(a)

to ensure that the Company maintains the level of capital necessary to meet the
requirements of its brokers, bank, and Debenture holders;

(b)

to allow the Company to respond to changes in economic and/or marketplace conditions by
maintaining its ability to purchase new investments;

(c)

to give shareholders sustained growth in shareholder value by increasing shareholders’
equity; and

(d)

to maintain a flexible capital structure which optimizes the cost of capital at acceptable
levels of risk.

The Company maintains or adjusts its capital level to enable it to meet its objectives by:
(a)

realizing proceeds from the disposition of its investments;

(b)

utilizing leverage in the form of margin (due to brokers) and the Company’s bank credit
line (bank indebtedness);

(c)

raising capital through equity and debt financings; and

(d)

utilizing a Credit Facility from the CEO.
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The Company is not subject to any capital requirements imposed by a regulator. When using
margin for its investing activities, however, Pinetree is subject to the margin requirements
applicable thereto, which can require, at any time and from time to time, that the Company
provide additional funds to its brokers depending on the then-value of its investments purchased
on margin. The Company’s convertible debentures are also subject to certain covenants,
including maintenance of certain financial ratios, restrictions on redemption, and restrictions on
the prepayment and payment of interest on such convertible debentures.
In August 2010, the Company’s operating line of credit with RBC was reduced to $250 from
$1,000. The operating line of credit bears interest at RBC’s prime rate plus 0.75%, collateralized
by the Company’s assets, and is due on demand. As at December 31, 2011 and 2010 and
January 1, 2010, the Company had nil outstanding on the line of credit.
The payment of cash dividends does not form part of Pinetree’s current capital management
program and, to date, the Company has not declared any cash dividends on its common shares.
However, the holders of the Class C Shares issued by PCIC are entitled to receive cumulative
dividends at a rate of 5% per annum until December 31, 2010 and at a rate of 8% per annum
thereafter. During the year ended December 31, 2011, PCIC declared and paid to Class C
shareholders dividends totaling $19 (2010 - $16).
The Company’s management is responsible for the management of capital and monitors the
Company’s use of various forms of leverage on a daily basis. The Company expects that its
current capital resources will be sufficient to discharge its liabilities as at December 31, 2011.
Risk Management:
Financial Instrument Risk
The investment operations of Pinetree’s business involve the purchase and sale of securities and,
accordingly, the majority of the Company’s assets and liabilities are currently comprised of
financial instruments. The use of financial instruments can expose the Company to several risks,
including liquidity, market, interest rate, currency, and credit risks. A discussion of the
Company’s use of financial instruments and their associated risks is provided below.
(a)

Liquidity risk:
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its
financial obligations as they become due. The Company’s liquidity and operating results
may be adversely affected if the Company’s access to the capital markets is hindered,
whether as a result of a downturn in stock market conditions generally or related to
matters specific to the Company, or if the value of the Company’s investments declines,
resulting in lesser proceeds from disposition and losses upon disposition. The Company
generates cash flow primarily from its financing activities and proceeds from the disposition
of its investments, in addition to interest and dividend income earned on its
investments. Pinetree invests significantly in securities of “junior” issuers, which can at
times be relatively illiquid, and if the Company decides to dispose of securities of a
particular issuer, it may not be able to do so at the time at favourable prices, or at all.
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Overall, the Company has sufficient marketable securities which are freely tradable and
relatively liquid to fund its obligations as they become due under normal operating
conditions, such that, absent overall market disruptions or extreme circumstances, liquidity
risk can be minimized.
The Company uses varying levels of financial leverage (or “margin”) when purchasing
investments. Trading on margin allows the Company to borrow part of the purchase price
of the investments (using marginable investments as collateral), rather than pay for them
in full. Buying on margin allows the Company to increase its portfolio size by increasing
the number and amount of investments through the use of leverage.
However, if the market moves against the Company’s positions and the Company’s
investments decline in value, the Company may be required to provide additional funds to
its brokers, which could be substantial. Given the nature of the Company’s business, the
Company may not have sufficient cash on hand to meet margin calls and may be required
to liquidate investments prematurely and/or at a loss, in order to generate funds needed to
satisfy the Company’s obligations. Furthermore, if the Company is unable to provide the
necessary funds within the time required, the Company’s marginable investments may be
involuntarily liquidated at a loss by its brokers to meet the obligations (and the Company
may still be required to make up any additional shortfall in funds thereafter).
The Company has at times borrowed funds from other sources to meet its obligations, but
there can be no assurances that such funds will be available in the future, or available on
reasonable terms, and the absence of available funding and/or the sale of the Company’s
investments in order to meet margin calls could have a materially adverse impact on the
Company’s operating results.
There were no changes to the way the Company manages liquidity risk since December 31,
2010. The Company manages liquidity risk by reviewing the amount of margin available on
a daily basis, and managing its cash flow given its daily margin availability. The Company
holds investments which can be converted into cash when required.
As at December 31, 2011, the Company had used margin of $18,778 and had additional
margin available of $16,180. The following table shows the estimated sensitivity of the
Company’s available margin from a change in the closing bid price of the Company’s
investments with all other variables held constant as at December 31, 2011.

Percentage of change in closing bid price
2%
4%
6%
8%
10%

Margin available
Margin available with
with a % increase in a % decrease in
closing bid price
closing bid price
$
16,879
$
15,480
17,578
14,781
18,277
14,082
18,976
13,383
19,675
12,684

As at December 31, 2010, the Company had used margin of $85,570 and had additional
margin available of $7,214. As at December 31, 2010, there would be no change to the
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Company’s available margin from a change in the closing bid price of the Company’s
investments by -10% to 10% with all other variables held constant as at December 31,
2010.
As at January 1, 2010, the Company had used margin of $33,673 and had additional
margin available of $1,831. The following table shows the estimated sensitivity of the
Company’s available margin from a change in the closing bid price of the Company’s
investments with all other variables held constant as at January 1, 2010:
Margin available with
Margin available with a
a % increase in closing % decrease in closing bid
bid price
price
$
2,017
$
1,645
2,204
1,459
2,390
1,272
2,576
897
2,762
101

Percentage of change in closing bid price
2%
4%
6%
8%
10%

The following table shows the Company’s liabilities on the consolidated statement of
financial position and potential due dates related to liquidity risk as at December 31, 2011:

Liabilities and obligations
Due to brokers
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Class C preferred share liabilities
Convertible debentures, due May 16, 2016

Total
$

$

18,778
1,129
241
67,839
87,987

Payments due by period
4–5
Less than 1
1–3
years
year
years
$ 18,778 $
- $
1,129
241
67,839
$ 20,148 $
- $ 67,839

After 5
years
$
$
-

The following table shows the Company’s liabilities on the consolidated statement of
financial position and potential due dates related to liquidity risk as at December 31, 2010:

Liabilities and obligations
Due to brokers
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Class C preferred share liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

Total
$

$

85,570
34,094
529
55,199
175,392

Payments due by period
4–5
Less than 1
1–3
years
year
years
$
85,570
$
- $
34,094
529
55,199
$ 120,193 $ 55,199 $

-
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After 5
years
$
$
-

The following table shows the Company’s liabilities on the consolidated statement of
financial position and potential due dates related to liquidity risk as at January 1, 2010:

Liabilities and obligations
Due to brokers
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Class C preferred share liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

Total
$

$

33,673
6,824
373
12,943
53,813

Payments due by period
4–5
Less than 1
1–3
years
year
year
$
33,673 $
- $
6,824
373
12,943
$
40,870 $ 12,943 $

-

After 5
years
$
$
-

The following table shows the Company’s source of liquidity by assets as at December 31,
2011:
Liquidity by period
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Due from brokers
Prepaids and other receivables
Investments at fair value
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets

Total
$

$

202
15
168
427,669
812
14,753
443,619

Less than 1
year

1–3
years

$

202 $
15
168
398,593
29,076
$ 398,978 $ 29,076

After 4
years
$

$

-

Nonliquid
assets
$
812
14,753
$ 15,565

The following table shows the Company’s source of liquidity by assets as at December 31,
2010:
Liquidity by period
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Due from brokers
Prepaids and other receivables
Investments at fair value
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets

Total
$

$

158
14
1,084
799,022
676
21,167
822,121

Less than 1
year
$

$

158
14
792
775,594
776,558

1–3
years
$

292
23,428
$ 23,720

After 4
years
$

$

-
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Nonliquid
assets
$
676
21,167
$ 21,843

The following table shows the Company’s source of liquidity by assets as at January 1, 2010:
Liquidity by period
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Due from brokers
Prepaids and other receivables
Investments at fair value
Income taxes receivable
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets

Total
$

$

(b)

404
24
312
371,261
3,307
517
23,306
399,131

Less than 1
year
$

404
24
312
338,530
3,307
$ 342,577

1–3
years
$

32,731
$ 32,731

After 4
years
$

$

Nonliquid
assets
-

Market risk:
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of, or future cash flows from, the Company’s
financial instruments will significantly fluctuate due to changes in market prices. The value
of the financial instruments can be affected by changes in interest rates, foreign exchange
rates, and equity and commodity prices. The Company is exposed to market risk in trading
its investments, and unfavourable market conditions could result in dispositions of
investments at less than favourable prices.
Additionally, in accordance with IFRS 9, Pinetree is required to fair value its investments at
the end of each reporting period. This process could result in significant write-downs of
the Company’s investments over one or more reporting periods, particularly during periods
of overall market instability, which would have a significant unfavourable effect on
Pinetree’s financial position.
There were no changes to the way the Company manages market risk since December 31,
2010. The Company manages market risk by having a portfolio which is not singularly
exposed to any one issuer or class of issuers, although Pinetree’s investment activities are
currently concentrated primarily across several sectors in the natural resource industry:
precious metals, base metals, oil and gas, potash, lithium and rare earths, uranium, and
coal.
The Company also has set thresholds on purchases of investments over which the approval
of the Board of Directors is required. During periods of significantly broader market
volatility or volatility experienced by the resource/commodity markets, the value of the
Company’s investment portfolio can be quite vulnerable to market fluctuations.
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$

517
23,306
$ 23,823

The following table shows the estimated sensitivity of the Company’s after- tax loss for the
year ended December 31, 2011 from a change in the closing bid price of the Company’s
investments with all other variables held constant as at December 31, 2011:
Percentage of change in closing
bid price
2%
4%
6%
8%
10%

Decrease in loss from %
Increase in loss from %
increase in closing bid price decrease in closing bid price
$
7,431
$
(7,431)
14,861
(14,861)
22,292
(22,292)
29,723
(29,723)
37,154
(37,154)

The following table shows the estimated sensitivity of the Company’s afer-tax profit for the
year ended December 31, 2010 from a change in the closing bid price of the Company’s
investments with all other variables held constant as at December 31, 2010:
Percentage of change in closing bid
price
2%
4%
6%
8%
10%

Increase in profit from %
Decrease in profit from %
increase in closing bid price
decrease in closing bid price
$
13,703
$
(13,703)
27,406
(27,406)
41,110
(41,110)
54,813
(54,813)
68,516
(68,516)

(c) Interest rate risk:
Interest rate risk is the impact that changes in interest rates could have on the Company’s
profit and liabilities. As at December 31, 2011, the Company had due to brokers (margin)
which bears interest at rates fluctuating with the prime rate or overnight lending rate.
The Company’s obligations under the Credit Facility and Debentures bear interest at a fixed
rate.
Due to brokers and the Credit Facility (if any) can be repaid by the Company at any time,
without notice or penalty, which provides the Company with some ability to manage and
mitigate its interest rate risk. The Debentures are due May 31, 2016. There were no
changes to the way the Company manages interest rate risk since December 31, 2010.
Pinetree does not hedge against any interest rate risk.
The following table shows the estimated sensitivity of the Company’s after-tax loss for the
year ended December 31, 2011 from a change in the interest rate on the average interest
risk liabilities with all other variables held constant as at December 31, 2011:

Change in interest rate
0.25%
0.50%
0.75%
1.00%

Increase in loss from an
Decrease in loss from a
increase in interest rate
decrease in interest rate
$
(96)
$
96
(192)
192
(289)
289
(385)
385
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The following table shows the estimated sensitivity of the Company’s after-tax profit for the
year ended December 31, 2010 from a change in the interest rate on the average interest
risk liabilities with all other variables held constant as at December 31, 2010:

Change in interest rate
0.25%
0.50%
0.75%
1.00%

Decrease in profit from an
Increase in profit from a
increase in interest rate
decrease in interest rate
$
(103)
$
(206)
(309)
(411)

103
206
309
411

(d) Currency risk:
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of, or future cash flows from, the Company’s
financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The
Company’s operations are exposed to foreign exchange fluctuations, which could have a
significant adverse effect on its consolidated results of operations from time to time.
The Company may have margin borrowings or financial instruments denominated in U.S.
dollars, Australian dollars, British pounds, and Israeli shekels. A change in the foreign
exchange rate of the Canadian dollar versus another currency may increase or decrease
the Company’s obligations due to brokers and increase or decrease the value of its financial
instruments.
There were no changes to the way the Company manages currency risk since
December 31, 2010. The Company believes it is not significantly exposed to foreign
exchange risk and does not actively hedge its foreign currency exposure,
although Pinetree’s foreign exchange risk is, to a certain extent, mitigated by the
Company’s foreign exchange denominated investments.
The following assets and liabilities were denominated in foreign currencies:
December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010 January 1, 2010
Denominated in U.S. dollars:
Investments
Cash and cash equivalents
Due from brokers
Prepaids and other receivables
Due to brokers
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Net assets denominated in U.S. dollars

$

5,406
11
15
1
(542)
(21)
4,870

$

8,364
9
14
591
(2,632)
(14)
6,332

$

11,885
11
24
129
(139)
(22)
11,888

Denominated in Australian dollars:
Investments
Due from (to) brokers

18,682
64

14,533
2,004

11,335
(443)

Net assets denominated in Australian dollars

18,746

16,537

10,892
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December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010 January 1, 2010
Denominated in British pounds:
Investments
Due from (to) brokers
Net assets denominated in British pounds

1,286
329
1,615

Denominated in Israeli shekels:
Investments
Net assets denominated in Israeli shekels

18
18

2,942
(1,091)
1,851

86
86

-

-

The following table shows the estimated sensitivity of the Company’s after-tax loss for the
year ended December 31, 2011 from a change in the U.S. dollar exchange rate in which
the Company has exposure with all other variables held constant as at December 31, 2011:

Percentage of change in U.S. dollar
2%
4%
6%
8%
10%

Decrease in loss from an Increase in loss from a
increase in % in the U.S. decrease in % in the U.S.
dollar exchange rate
dollar exchange rate
$
72
$
(72)
144
(144)
215
(215)
287
(287)
359
(359)

The following table shows the estimated sensitivity of the Company’s after-tax loss for the
year ended December 31, 2011 from a change in the Australian dollar exchange rate in
which the Company has exposure with all other variables held constant as at December 31,
2011:

Percentage of change in Australian dollar
2%
4%
6%
8%
10%

Decrease in loss from
an increase in % in the
Australian dollar
exchange rate
$
277
553
830
1,106
1,383

Increase in loss from a
decrease in % in the
Australian dollar
exchange rate
$
(277)
(553)
(830)
(1,106)
(1,383)
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The following table shows the estimated sensitivity of the Company’s after-tax profit for the
year ended December 31, 2010 from a change in the U.S. dollar exchange rate in which
the Company has exposure with all other variables held constant as at December 31, 2010:

Percentage of change in U.S. dollar
2%
4%
6%
8%
10%

Increase in profit from an
Decrease in profit from a
increase in % in the U.S.
decrease in % in the U.S.
dollar exchange rate
dollar exchange rate
$
87
$
(87)
175
(175)
262
(262)
349
(349)
437
(437)

The following table shows the estimated sensitivity of the Company’s after-tax profit for the
year ended December 31, 2010 from a change in the Australian dollar exchange rate in
which the Company has exposure with all other variables held constant as at December 31,
2010:

Percentage of change in Australian dollar
2%
4%
6%
8%
10%

(e)

Increase in profit from an
increase in % in the
Australian dollar exchange
rate
$
228
456
685
913
1,141

Decrease in profit from a
decrease in % in the
Australian dollar
exchange rate
$
(228)
(456)
(685)
(913)
(1,141)

Credit risk:
Credit risk is the risk associated with the inability of a third party to fulfill its payment
obligations. The Company is exposed to the risk that third parties that owe it money or
securities (in connection with securities lending and convertible or debt securities, for
example) will not perform their underlying obligations. There were no changes to the way
the Company manages credit risk since December 31, 2010.
The Company’s investments in convertible debentures, convertible notes, and promissory
notes are carried as though converted to common shares. As at December 31, 2011, the
total fair value of these investments was $844 (December 31, 2010 - $506; January 1,
2010 - $1,498). The Company believes it is not significantly exposed to credit risk as these
investments comprise 0.2% (December 31, 2010 – 0.1%; January 1, 2010 – 0.4%) of the
Company’s total investments.
The Company entered into a securities lending agreement with its prime broker in order to
earn additional revenue, which is included in other income in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income (loss). The Company receives collateral in an amount equal to the
percentage of the market value of the loaned securities as agreed upon with the prime
broker. The securities on loan continue to be included in investments on the consolidated
statement of financial position. The Company believes it is not significantly exposed to
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credit risk since the prime broker is required to pay the Company the fair value of the
securities loaned if the securities are not returned upon the Company’s request. As at
December 31, 2011, the total fair value of investments loaned to third parties was $5,860
(December 31, 2010 - $5,355; January 1, 2010 - nil), which comprise 1.4% (December 31,
2010 – 0.7%; January 1, 2010 - nil) of the Company’s total investments.
Risk Factors:
The Company’s investing activities are, by their nature, subject to a number of inherent risks,
including liquidity, market, interest rate, currency and credit risks associated with financial
instruments, and certain other risks that are described in our annual information form for our
most recently completed financial year, all of which can have, and have had over recent
reporting periods, a significant impact on the Company’s financial condition and results of
operations. Stock market volatility has resulted in and may continue to result in increased
market risk and losses within our investment portfolio.
Some risks are described below. Additional risks not currently known to us, or that we currently
believe to be immaterial, may also affect and negatively impact our business.
(a)

Portfolio Exposure:
Given the nature of the Company’s activities, its results of operations and financial
condition are dependent upon the market value of the securities that comprise the
Company’s portfolio. Market value can be reflective of the actual or anticipated operating
results of our portfolio companies and/or the general market conditions that affect the
sectors in which Pinetree invests. The Company’s investment activities are currently
concentrated primarily in the natural resource industry, with a current focus on the
uranium and coal, oil and gas, base metals and precious metals sectors. There are various
factors that could affect these sectors which could have a negative impact on Pinetree’s
portfolio companies and thereby have an adverse effect on our business. Additionally,
Pinetree’s investments are mostly in small-cap businesses which the Company believes
exhibit potential for growth and sustainable cash flows but which may not ever mature or
generate the returns the Company expects or may require a number of years to do so.
Junior exploration, biotechnology and technology companies may never achieve
commercial discoveries and production. This may create an irregular pattern in the
Company’s revenues (if any). Additionally, macro factors such as fluctuations in commodity
prices and global political, economic and market conditions could have an adverse effect on
one or more sectors to which the Company is exposed, and a disproportionate effect on
the sectors as compared to the overall market, thereby negatively impacting one or more
of the portfolio companies concurrently. Company-specific risks, such as the risks
associated with mining operations generally, could have an adverse effect on one or more
of the Company’s portfolio companies at any point in time. Company-specific and industryspecific risks which materially adversely affect Pinetree’s portfolio investments may have a
materially adverse impact on our operating results.
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(b)

Cash Flows/Revenue:
Pinetree generates revenue and cash flows primarily from its financing activities and
proceeds from the disposition of its investments, in addition to interest and dividend
income earned on the Company’s investments. The availability of these sources of funds
and the amount of funds generated from these sources are dependent upon various
factors, most of which are outside of the Company’s direct control. The Company’s
liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected if access to the capital markets is
hindered, whether as a result of a downturn in the market conditions generally or to
matters specific to Pinetree, or if the value of the Company’s investments decline, resulting
in lesser proceeds of disposition and capital losses for Pinetree upon disposition.

(c)

Private Issuers and Illiquid Securities:
Pinetree invests in securities of private issuers. Investments in private issuers cannot be
resold without a prospectus, an available exemption or an appropriate ruling under relevant
securities legislation and there may not be any market for such securities. These
limitations may impair Pinetree’s ability to react quickly to market conditions or negotiate
the most favourable terms for exiting such investments. Investments in private issuers
may offer relatively high potential returns, but will also be subject to a relatively high
degree of risk. There can be no assurance that a public market will develop for any of
Pinetree’s private company investments or that the Company will otherwise be able to
realize a return on such investments. Pinetree also invests in illiquid securities of public
issuers. A considerable period of time may elapse between the time a decision is made to
sell such securities and the time the Company is able to do so, and the value of such
securities could decline during such period. Illiquid investments are subject to various
risks, particularly the risk that the Company will be unable to realize the Company’s
investment objectives by sale or other disposition at attractive prices or otherwise be
unable to complete any exit strategy. In some cases, the Company may be prohibited by
contract or by law from selling such securities for a period of time or otherwise be
restricted from disposing of such securities. Furthermore, the types of investments made
may require a substantial length of time to liquidate.

(d)

Share Prices of Investments:
Pinetree’s investments in securities of public companies are subject to volatility in the share
prices of the companies. There can be no assurance that an active trading market for any
of the subject shares is sustainable. The trading prices of the subject shares could be
subject to wide fluctuations in response to various factors beyond the control of Pinetree,
including quarterly variations in the subject companies' results of operations, changes in
earnings (if any), estimates by analysts, conditions in the industry of the subject companies
and general market or economic conditions. In recent years equity markets have
experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations. These fluctuations have had a
substantial effect on market prices, often unrelated to the operating performance of the
specific companies. Such market fluctuations could adversely affect the market price of the
Company’s investments and significantly negatively impact upon the Company’s operating
results.
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(e)

Concentration of Investments:
There are no restrictions on the proportion of Pinetree’s funds and no limit on the amount
of funds that may be allocated to any particular investment (subject to board approval for
investments in excess of a pre-determined threshold), industry or sector. Accordingly, the
Company’s investment activities may be highly concentrated in a particular company (or a
limited number of companies), business, industry or sector, as a consequence of which, the
Company’s financial results may be substantially adversely affected by the unfavourable
performance of that single (or few) investment(s) or sector.

(f)

Dependence on Management:
Pinetree is dependent upon the efforts, skill and business contacts of key members of
management, for among other things, the information and deal flow they generate during
the normal course of their activities and the synergies which exist amongst their various
fields of expertise and knowledge. Accordingly, the Company’s continued success will
depend upon the continued service of these individuals who are not obligated to remain
employed with Pinetree. The loss of the services of any of these individuals could have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s revenues, net income and cash flows and could
harm the Company’s ability to maintain or grow existing assets and raise additional funds
in the future.

(g)

Additional Financing Requirements:
Pinetree anticipates ongoing requirements for funds to support the Company’s growth and
may seek to obtain additional funds for these purposes through public or private equity
shares or debt financing. There are no assurances that additional funding will be available
to the Company at all, on acceptable terms or at an acceptable level. Any additional equity
financing may cause shareholders to experience dilution, and any additional debt financing
may result in increased interest expense or restrictions on our operations or ability to incur
additional debt. Any limitations on the Company’s ability to access the capital markets for
additional funds could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s ability to grow its
investment portfolio.

(h)

Management of our Growth:
Significant growth in Pinetree’s business, as a result of acquisitions or otherwise, could
place a strain on the Company’s managerial, operational and financial resources and
information systems. Future operating results will depend on the ability of senior
management to manage rapidly changing business conditions, and to implement and
improve the Company’s technical, administrative and financial controls and reporting
systems. No assurance can be given that Pinetree will succeed in these efforts. The
failure to effectively manage and improve these systems could increase the Company’s
costs, which could have a material adverse effect on Pinetree.
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(i)

Exchange Rate Fluctuations:
A significant portion of Pinetree’s portfolio is invested in Australian and U.S. dollar
denominated investments, as well as investments denominated in other foreign currencies.
Changes in the value of the foreign currencies in which the Company investments are
denominated could have a negative impact on the ultimate return on the Company’s
investments and overall financial performance.

(j)

Securities Lending:
As previously discussed under Credit Risk, the Company has a securities lending agreement
(“SLA”) with one of its prime brokers. Under the SLA, the Company has the option of
lending its securities held at the broker when requested by a third party. There is a risk
that the securities loaned under the SLA may not be returned to the Company, however,
the prime broker assumes all of the risk and is required to return the securities to the
Company or cash equivalent to its fair market value. If the cash equivalent is paid to the
Company, the Company may not be able to repurchase the equivalent securities in the
market.

(k)

Dependence Upon Operating Partner:
The Company oil and gas activity is conducted through partners in respect of which the
Company is not the operator. Pinetree is dependent upon its operating partners for the
financial and technical support, which they contribute to the Samuel property. If Pinetree’s
operating partners are unable to fulfill their own contractual obligations, the Company’s
interests could be jeopardized, resulting in project delays, additional costs and loss of the
interests.

Outstanding Share Data:
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares (no par value).
During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company renewed its normal course issuer bid
in respect of its common shares (the “NCIB”). Pursuant to the terms of the NCIB, and in
accordance with the policies of the TSX, during the period commencing September 1, 2011 and
ending on August 31, 2012, the Company may purchase up to 5,000,000 common shares,
representing approximately 3.7% of the common shares outstanding as at August 23,
2011. Purchases will be made in open market transactions through the facilities of the TSX and
on other published markets at market prices prevailing at the time of acquisition. All common
shares purchased under the NCIB will be cancelled. Security holders of Pinetree may obtain,
without charge, a copy of its Notice of Intention to Make a Normal Course Issuer Bid, which was
filed with the TSX, by contacting the Company. During the year ended December 31, 2011, the
Company purchased and cancelled 100,000 common shares at $1.55 per share under the NCIB
(2010 – nil). As at December 31, 2011, the Company has 4,900,000 common shares available to
be repurchased under the NCIB.
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Subsequent to December 31, 2011, 100,000 options exercisable at $9.74 per share expired
unexercised.
As at March 8, 2012, the number of common shares of the Company outstanding and the
number of common shares issuable pursuant to other outstanding securities of Pinetree are as
follows:
Common shares
Outstanding
Issuable under options
Issuable under warrants
Issuable under conversion of Debentures

Number
136,447,273
13,532,900
20,513,650
17,647,059

Total diluted common shares

188,140,882

Refer to note 12 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year
ended December 31, 2011 for other details about the Company’s share capital.
Segmented Information:
The management of the Company is responsible for the Company’s entire portfolio and considers
the business to have a single operating segment. The management’s investment decisions are
based on a single, integrated investment strategy, and the performance is evaluated on an
overall basis.
The Company has a single reportable geographic segment, Canada, and all of the Company’s
property, plant and equipment are located in Canada, except for its exploration license in Israel.
During the year ended December 31, 2011, the consortium commenced seismic testing on the
property and the Company has expensed $695 relating to the seismic testing on the block.
The internal reporting provided to management of the Company’s assets, liabilities, and
performance is prepared on a consistent basis with the measurement and recognition principles
of IFRS. There were no changes in the reportable segments during the year ended
December 31, 2011.
As at December 31, 2011, the Company has a diversified portfolio of investments where no
single investment accounts for more than 10% of the portfolio. The Company also has a
diversified base of investors. There were no shareholders who each held more than 10% of the
Company’s common shares.
Transition to IFRS:
For all periods up to and including the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company prepared
its consolidated financial statements in accordance with CGAAP. The consolidated financial
statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2011 are the first audited consolidated
financial statements which the Company has prepared in accordance with IFRS. In preparing
the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2011, the
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opening consolidated statement of financial position was prepared as at January 1, 2010, the
Company’s Transition Date.
(a)

Transition to IFRS reconciliations:
The Company has disclosed the following CGAAP to IFRS reconciliations in note 21 of the
Notes to the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31,
2011 (refer to that note for details):
(i)

reconciliation of the consolidated statement of financial position and equity as at
January 1, 2010;

(ii)

reconciliation of the consolidated statement of financial position and equity as at
December 31, 2010;

(iii)

reconciliation of the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
ended December 31, 2010.

No reconciliation is required for the consolidated statement of cash flows as there are no
significant differences.
(b)

Significant Accounting Policy Changes and Exemptions Applied:
The following explains the principal adjustments made in restating the previous CGAAP
consolidated balance sheet as at January 1, 2010 and its previously published CGAAP
consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2010. IFRS
1, First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards allows first-time
adopters certain exemptions from the retrospective application of IFRS.
The Company has elected to apply the following exemptions:
(i)

IFRS 2 Share-based Payment has not been applied to the options issued under the
Stock Option Plans that were vested prior to January 1, 2010.
Under CGAAP, the Company was permitted to elect to treat the stock options issued
as a pool and determine fair value using the average life of the instruments, provided
that compensation was then recognized on a straight-line basis and the Company was
not required to use estimated future forfeitures of the options. Under IFRS 2, the
Company is required to use the graded method in valuing stock options and use an
estimated forfeiture rate, resulting in an accelerated compensation expense for these
awards under IFRS.
As at January 1, 2010, the adjustment was to increase contributed surplus by $1,037
and the corresponding entry to decrease retained earnings.
As at December 31, 2010, the adjustment was to increase contributed surplus by
$716 and the corresponding entry to decrease retained earnings. As a result of the
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exercise of stock options, there was an adjustment to increase contributed surplus by
$13 and a corresponding entry to decrease share capital.
(ii)

IFRS 1 offers the first-time adopter of IFRS the option to reset the foreign currency
translation reserve that existed at the date of adoption to zero as of the date of
transition to IFRS as an alternative to establishing a foreign currency translation
reserve as if the accounting and translation principles in IAS 21 The Effects of
Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates had always been used and the measurement of
assets and liabilities had been as required by currently implemented IFRS. The
Company has elected to utilize this option, and has reset the foreign currency
translation reserve for its single foreign operation to zero as of January 1, 2010.
Future gains or losses on a subsequent disposal of any foreign operation will
therefore exclude translation differences that arose before January 1, 2010.
The changeover to IFRS and IAS 21 will not create any significant changes other than
the reclassification of some exchange differences. The total effect for the year ended
December 31, 2010 was to decrease the foreign exchange loss by $22 and a
corresponding increase to the exchange differences on translation foreign currency in
other comprehensive income (loss).

(iii)

Designation of previously recognized financial instruments - IFRS 1 provides an
exemption that permits a first-time adopter to designate financial assets and liabilities
as at fair value through profit or loss or as available-for-sale at the date of transition
to IFRS. The Company has elected to use this option and has classified all its
investments and designated Class C preferred share liabilities as carried at fair value
through profit or loss.
Under CGAAP, the Company accounted its investments in associates under the equity
method. Under the equity method, the investment is initially recorded at cost and
the carrying value is adjusted thereafter, to reflect the Company’s pro-rata share of
income or loss of the equity accounted investment and any dividends received from
the investment. The Company’s share of profits or losses of such investments is
included in the consolidated statements of operations. Under IAS 28, the Company’s
investments in associates are held as part of the Company’s investments portfolio and
carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value. IAS 28
permits investments held by venture capital or similar organizations to be excluded
from its scope where those investments are mearsured at fair value through profit or
loss and accounted for in accordance with IFRS 9, with changes in fair value
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss) within
unrealized gains or losses on investments in the period of the change.
The adoption of IAS 28 allows the Company to fair value all of its investments instead
of equity account its investments in associates under CGAAP which the Company
believes is more representative of its investment at fair value. The Company has
revalued its investments in associates to fair value on transition.
As at January 1, 2010, the Company held four equity accounted investments and as
at December 31, 2010, the Company held one equity accounted investment. As at
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January 1, 2010, the adjustment was to decrease equity accounted investments by
$1,911 and the corresponding entry to increase investments at fair value. To fair
value the investments in associates, the Company also increased investments at fair
value by $2,626 with a corresponding entry to increase retained earnings.
For the year ended December 31, 2010, the adjustment was to reverse the losses
from equity accounted investments of $774 and increase the net change in unrealized
gains by $859 and the related income tax expense by $111.
Other significant changes from CGAAP to IFRS:
(i)

Under CGAAP, the Company offsets its future tax assets and liabilities among its
subsidiaries taking into account consolidated tax-planning strategies that would
change the particular future years in which temporary differences result in taxable or
deductible amounts. Under IAS – 12, Income taxes, the Company is not permitted to
offset its deferred tax assets and liabilities among its subsidiaries unless a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current income tax
liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same
taxation authority.

(ii)

The adoption of IAS 21 resulted in two new accounts. There is a new account in the
equity section called Foreign currency translation reserve and a corresponding
account in the Statement of comprehensive income called Exchange differences on
translation of foreign operations. The foreign exchange translation of the Company’s
subsidiary, Pinetree (Barbados) Inc., and its related intercompany balance are now
reflected in a component of shareholder’s equity and as other comprehensive income
(loss).

Significant Accounting Policies:
Some significant accounting polices used in the presentation of the consolidated financial
statements are as follows. Complete details of the Company’s significant accounting policies
which the Company has adopted in its annual consolidated financial statements as at and for the
year ended December 31, 2011 are provided in Note 3 to its consolidated financial statements.
(a)

Basis of presentation:
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the historical cost
convention except for some financial instruments which have been measured at fair value.
All monetary references expressed in these notes are references to Canadian dollar
amounts (“$”).

(b)

Basis of consolidation:
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Pinetree and its whollyowned subsidiaries: Genevest Inc., Pinetree (Barbados) Inc., Pinetree Capital Investment
Corp. (“PCIC”), and Emerald Capital Corp., as well as Pinetree Resource Partnership and
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Pinetree Income Partnership, each a general partnership of which Pinetree indirectly owns
a 100% interest. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the
date on which the Company obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date
that such control ceases. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
All inter-company account balances and transactions have been eliminated upon
consolidation.
(c)

Adoption of IFRS :
The effective date of IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) is January 1, 2015. As
permitted by the IASB, the Company has early adopted IFRS 9 in conjunction with the
transition to IFRS on January 1, 2011. Specifically, the Company has adopted the
recognition, derecognition, and measurement of financial assets and liabilities.The
Company’s significant class of financial assets is investments (designated at fair value
through profit and loss) and the differences in the accounting between International
Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and
IFRS 9 for these financial instruments do not have any material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

(d)

Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions:
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates and
assumptions are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. However, actual outcomes can differ from these estimates. The
information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty considered by management in
preparing the consolidated financial statements are:
(i)

Fair value of investment in securities not quoted in an active market or private
company investments:
Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the
consolidated statement of financial position cannot be derived from active markets,
they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques. The inputs to these
models are derived from observable market data where possible, but where
observable market data are not available, judgment is required to establish fair
values.

(ii)

Fair value of financial derivatives:
Investments in options and warrants which are not traded on a recognized securities
exchange do not have a readily available market value. When there are sufficient and
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reliable observable market inputs, a valuation technique is used; if no such market
inputs are available, the warrants and options are valued at intrinsic value.
(iii)

Deferred tax assets:
Deferred tax assets are recognized in respect of tax losses and other temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the losses can be utilized. Judgment is required to determine the amount of
deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profit, together with future tax planning strategies.

(iv) Convertible debentures:
Convertible debentures are separated into their liability and equity components on the
consolidated statement of financial position. The liability component is initially
recognized at fair value, calculated as the net present value of the liability, based
upon non-convertible debt issued by comparable issuers, and accounted for at
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate
used is the estimated rate for debt with similar terms at the time of issue.
(v)

Stock-based compensation expense:
The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to fair value options in
order to calculate stock-based compensation expense. The Black-Scholes model
involves six key inputs to determine fair value of an option: risk-free interest rate,
exercise price, market price at date of issue, expected dividend yield, expected life,
and expected volatility. Certain of the inputs are estimates which involve considerable
judgment and are, or could be, affected by significant factors that are out of the
Company’s control. The Company is also required to estimate the future forfeiture
rate of options based on historical information in its calculation of stock-based
compensation expense.

(e)

Going concern:
The Company’s management has made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern and is satisfied that the Company has the resources to continue in
business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, management is not aware of any
material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Therefore, the consolidated financial statements continue to
be prepared on a going concern basis.

(f)

Foreign currency:
(i)

Functional currency:
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the
parent’s functional and presentation currency. Each entity in the group determines its
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own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency.
(ii)

Transactions and balances:
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency at
the rate in effect at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency spot
rate of exchange in effect at the reporting date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rate as at the date of the initial transaction. Non-monetary items measured
at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was determined. All differences are recorded in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income (loss).

(iii)

Translation of foreign operations:
The results and financial position of Pinetree’s subsidiaries that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:
1.

Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

2.

Share capital is translated using the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction;

3.

Revenue and expenses for each statement of comprehensive income (loss) are
translated at average exchange rates; and

4.

All resulting exchange differences are recognized as a separate component of
equity and as an exchange difference on translation of foreign operations in
other comprehensive income (loss) in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income (loss).

The Company treats specific inter-company loan balances, which are not intended to
be repaid in the foreseeable future, as part of its net investment in a foreign
operation which is recorded as an exchange difference on translation of foreign
operations in other comprehensive income (loss) in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income (loss). When a foreign entity is sold, such exchange
differences are reclassified to profit or loss in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income (loss) as part of the gain or loss on sale.
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(g)

Financial instruments:
(i)

Classification:
All investments are classified upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or
loss, with changes in fair value reported in profit (loss).
Class C preferred shares are liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss,
with changes in fair value reported in expenses in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income (loss).
Convertible debentures are liabilities classified as subsequently measured at
amortized cost.

(ii)

Recognition, derecognition and measurement:
Purchases and sales of investments are recognized on the settlement date.
Investments at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognized at fair value.
Transaction costs are expensed as incurred in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
Investments are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments have expired or the Company has transferred the financial asset and the
transfer qualifies for derecognition in accordance with IFRS 9, Financial Instruments.
Subsequent to initial recognition, all investments are measured at fair value where
reliable basis for information exists. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair
value of the investments at fair value through profit or loss category are presented in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income within unrealized gains or
losses on investments in the period in which they arise.
The fair value of Class C preferred share liabilities is determined by reference to the
underlying trading price of Pinetree’s shares. The fair value of the Class C preferred
share liabilities also includes accrued dividends.
Convertible debentures have been classified as debt, net of the fair value of the
conversion feature at the date of issue which has been classified as part of equity.
The fair value of the conversion feature is recognized initially as the difference
between fair value of the convertible debentures as a whole and the fair value of its
liability component. The convertible debentures are separated into their liability and
equity components using the effective interest rate method. Transaction costs related
to the issue of the convertible debentures are allocated to the liability and equity
components in proportion to their allocation of proceeds on initial recognition.
The issue costs allocated to the liability component are amortized over the term of
the convertible debentures and accrete up to the principal balance at maturity. The
accretion, amortization of issue costs and the interest paid are expensed within
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finance expenses on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss)
within profit or loss. The equity component is not remeasured subsequent to initial
recognition except upon conversion, when it will be reclassified to share capital.
Any balance in equity that remains after the settlement of the liability will be
transferred to contributed surplus. The equity portion is initially recognized net of
deferred income taxes.
(iii)

Reclassification of investments:
The Company would only reclassify any financial assets when the Company changes
its business model for managing the financial asset.
Reclassifications are recorded at fair value at the date of reclassification, which
becomes the new carrying value.

(iv) Determination of fair values:
The determination of fair value requires judgment and is based on market
information, where available and appropriate. At the end of each financial reporting
period, the Company’s management estimates the fair value of investments based on
the criteria below and reflects such valuations in the consolidated financial
statements. The Company is also required to disclose details of its investments (and
other financial assets and liabilities reported at fair value) within three hierarchy
levels (Level 1, 2, or 3) based on the transparency of inputs used in measuring the
fair value, and to provide additional disclosure in connection therewith.
1.

Publicly-traded investments (i.e., securities of issuers that are public
companies):
a.

Securities, including shares, options, and warrants which are traded in an
active market, such as on a recognized securities exchange and for which
no sales restrictions apply are presented at fair value based on quoted
closing bid prices at the consolidated statement of financial position date
or the closing bid price on the last day the security traded if there were no
trades at the consolidated statement of financial position date. These are
included in Level 1.

b.

Securities which are traded on a recognized securities exchange but which
are escrowed or otherwise restricted as to sale or transfer are recorded at
amounts discounted from market value to a maximum of 10%. In
determining the discount for such investments, the Company considers the
nature and length of the restriction. These are included in Level 2.

c.

For options and warrants which are not traded on a recognized securities
exchange, no market value is readily available. When there are sufficient
and reliable observable market inputs, a valuation technique is used; if no
such market inputs are available or reliable, the warrants and options are
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valued at intrinsic value, which is equal to the higher of the closing bid
price at the consolidated statement of financial position date of the
underlying security less the exercise price of the warrant or option, and
zero. These are included in Level 2.
2.

Private company investments (securities of issuers that are not public
companies):
All privately-held investments (other than options and warrants) are initially
recorded at the transaction price, being the fair value at the time of
acquisition. Thereafter, at each reporting period, the fair value of an
investment may, depending upon the circumstances, be adjusted using one or
more of the valuation indicators described below. These are included in Level 3.
Options and warrants of private companies are carried at nil.
The determinations of fair value of the Company’s privately-held investments at
other than initial cost are subject to certain limitations. Financial information for
private companies in which the Company has investments may not be available
and, even if available, that information may be limited and/or unreliable. Use of
the valuation approach described below may involve uncertainties and
determinations based on the Company’s judgment and any value estimated
from these techniques may not be realized or realizable.
The following circumstances are used to determine if the fair value of a
privately-held investment should be adjusted upward or downward at the end of
each reporting period. In addition to the events described below, which may
affect a specific investment, the Company will take into account general market
conditions when valuing the privately-held investments in its portfolio. Absent
the occurrence of any of these events or any significant change in general
market conditions indicates generally that the fair value of the investment has
not materially changed.
The fair value of a privately-held investment may be adjusted upward if:
a.

there has been a significant subsequent equity financing provided by
outside investors, at a valuation above the current value of the investee
company, in which case the fair value of the investment is set to the value
at which that financing took place; or

b.

there have been significant corporate, political or operating events
affecting the investee company that, in management’s opinion, have a
positive impact on the investee company’s prospects and therefore its fair
value. In these circumstances, the adjustment to the fair value of the
investment will be based on management’s judgment and any value
estimated may not be realized or realizable.
Such events include, without limitation:
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i.

political changes in a country in which the investee company
operates which, for example, reduce the corporate tax burden,
permit mining where, or to an extent that, it was not previously
allowed, or reduce or eliminate the need for permitting or approvals;

ii.

receipt by the investee company of environmental, mining, aboriginal
or similar approvals, which allow the investee company to proceed
with its project(s);

iii.

filing by the investee company of a National Instrument 43-101
technical report in respect of a previously non-compliant resource;

iv.

release by the investee company of positive exploration results,
which either proves or expands their resource prospects; and

v.

important positive management changes by the investee company
that the Company’s management believes will have a very positive
impact on the investee company’s ability to achieve its objectives
and build value for shareholders.

In the circumstances described above under (i) through (v), or in circumstances
where general market conditions so warrant it, an adjustment to the fair value
of an investment will be based upon management’s judgment and any value
estimated may not be realized or realizable.
The fair value of a privately-held investment may be adjusted downward if:
a.

there has been a significant subsequent equity financing provided by
outside investors, at a valuation below the current value of the investee
company, in which case the fair value of the investment is set to the value
at which that financing took place;

b.

the investee company is placed into receivership or bankruptcy;

c.

based on financial information received from the investee company, it is
apparent to the Company that the investee company is unlikely to be able
to continue as a going concern; or

d.

there have been significant corporate, political, or operating events
affecting the investee company that, in management’s opinion, have a
negative impact on the investee company’s prospects and therefore its fair
value. The amount of the change to the fair value of the investment is
based on management’s judgment and any value estimated may not be
realized or realizable.
Such events include, without limitation:
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i.

political changes in a country in which the investee company
operates which increases the tax burden on companies, which
prohibit mining where it was previously allowed, which increases the
need for permitting or approvals, etc.;

ii.

denial of the investee company’s application for environmental,
mining, aboriginal or similar approvals which prohibit the investee
company from proceeding with its projects;

iii.

the investee company releases negative exploration results; and

iv.

changes to the management of the investee company take place
which the Company believes will have a negative impact on the
investee company’s ability to achieve its objectives and build value
for shareholders.

In the circumstances described above under (i) through (iv), or in circumstances
where general market conditions so warrant it, an adjustment to the fair value
of an investment will be based upon management’s judgment and any value
estimated may not be realized or realizable.
The resulting values for non-publicly traded investments may differ from values
that would be realized if a ready market existed. In addition, the amounts at
which the Company’s privately-held investments could be disposed of currently
may differ from the carrying value assigned.
3.

Other investment instruments:
Included in Pinetree’s investments are certain instruments that are accounted
for as follows:

4.

a.

Convertible debentures and convertible notes are carried as though
converted to common shares.

b.

Cumulative dividends expected to be received are included in the fair
value of each investment.

Investments in associates:
Investments in associates are those entities over which the Company has or is
deemed to have significant influence but not control over, the financial and
operating policies. Investments in associates are held as part of the Company’s
investments portfolio and carried in the consolidated statement of financial
position at fair value even though the Company may have significant influence
over the companies. This treatment is permitted by IAS 28 Investment in
Associates, which allows investments held by venture capital or similar
organizations to be excluded from its scope where those investments are
measured at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9, with
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changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income (loss) within unrealized gains or losses on investments.
(h)

Revenue recognition:
Purchases and sales of investments are recognized on the settlement date. Realized gains
and losses on disposal of investments and unrealized gains and losses in the value of
investments are reflected in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and are
calculated on an average cost basis. Upon disposal of an investment, previously
recognized unrealized gains or losses are reversed, so as to recognize the full realized gain
or loss in the period of disposition. All transaction costs associated with the acquisition and
disposition of investments are expensed to the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as incurred. Dividend income is recorded on the ex-dividend date and when the
right to receive the dividend has been established. Interest income, other income, and
income from securities lending are recorded on an accrual basis.

(i)

Income taxes:
(i)

Current income tax:
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that
are enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. Current tax
assets and current tax liabilities are only offset if a legally enforceable right exists to
set off the amounts, and the intention is to settle on a net basis, or to realize the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Current income tax relating to items
recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and not through profit or loss.

(ii)

Deferred tax:
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the
reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognized for all
deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax credits, and unused
tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary difference and the carry forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilized.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to
apply in the year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
consolidated statement of financial position date. Deferred tax relating to items
recognized directly in equity is also recognized in equity and not in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income (loss).
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each consolidated
statement of financial position date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at
each consolidated statement of financial position date and are recognized to the
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred
tax asset to be recovered. The Company creates a valuation allowance to the extent
that it considers deductible temporary differences, the carry-forward of unused tax
credits, and unused tax losses cannot be utilized.
(j)

Stock-based compensation plans:
Employees (including senior executives), directors, and consultants of the Company receive
remuneration in the form of stock options for rendering services to the Company (“equitysettled transactions”). Any consideration received on the exercise of stock options or sale
of stock is credited to share capital. The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognized,
together with a corresponding increase in contributed surplus, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the
relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (“the vesting date”). The cumulative
expense recognized for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Company’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The Company
records compensation expense and credits contributed surplus for all stock options granted
which represents the movement in cumulative expense recognized as at the beginning and
end of that period.
Stock options granted during the period are accounted for in accordance with the fair value
method of accounting for stock-based compensation. The fair value for these options is
estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The Company
is also required to estimate the expected future forfeiture rate of options in its calculation
of stock-based compensation expense.
Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense
recognized in compensation expense is the expense as if the terms had not been modified.
An additional expense is recognized for any modification which increases the total fair value
of the share-based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as
measured at the date of modification.
Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of
cancellation, and any expense not yet recognized for the award is recognized immediately.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are
treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.
The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the
computation of diluted earnings per share.
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(k)

Jointly controlled assets:
For interests in jointly controlled assets, the Company’s share of the jointly controlled
assets classified according to the nature of the assets, the Company’s share of any
liabilities incurred jointly with the other parties, and the Company’s share of any income
and expenses incurred jointly with the partners are recognized in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income (loss). Jointly controlled assets involve the joint
control or joint ownership by partners of one or more assets dedicated for the purposes of
the joint venture or partnership.

(l)

Oil and gas exploration and evaluation assets:
(i)

Pre-license costs:
Pre-license costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

(ii)

Exploration and evaluation costs:
Exploration and evaluation costs are charged to operations in the period incurred
unless management concludes that a future economic benefit is more likely than not
to be realized (and should be capitalized) or until such time as it has been determined
that a property has economically recoverable reserves, in which case subsequent
exploration and evaluation costs and the costs incurred to develop a property are
capitalized into oil and gas exploration and evaluation assets. On the commencement
of commercial production, depletion of the oil and gas property will be provided on a
unit-of-production basis using estimated resources as the depletion base.

Critical Accounting Estimates:
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Critical accounting estimates used in the preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial
statements include the Company’s fair value of investment in securities not quoted in an active
market (its privately-held investments), the valuation allowance related to the Company’s
deferred tax asset (“DTA”), the Company’s estimate of inputs for the calculation of the value of
stock-based compensation expense, the effective interest rate of convertible debentures, the
valuation of unlisted warrants of public companies, and the Company’s own warrants and broker
warrants.
Fair value of investment in securities not quoted in an active market:
The method used by the Company to value its privately-held investments (being securities of
issuers that are not public) is described under “Significant Accounting Policies” elsewhere in this
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MD&A. The valuation of privately-held investments (“private investments”) requires
management to assess the current financial status and prospects of private investments based
upon potentially incomplete or unaudited financial information provided by the investee
company, on management’s general knowledge of the private investment’s activities, and on any
political, economic or other events that may impact upon the private investment specifically, and
to attempt to quantify the impact of such events on the fair value of the investment. In addition
to any events or circumstances that may affect the fair value of a particular private investment,
management can consider general market conditions that may affect the fair value of either a
particular private investment or a group, segment or complete portfolio of private investments.
Changes in the fair value of our private investments for company-specific reasons have tended
to be infrequent. Changes as a result of general market conditions may be more frequent from
period to period during times of significant volatility; however, given the relatively small size of
our private investment portfolio, such changes are not expected to have a material impact on
our financial condition or operating results.
Allowance for Deferred Tax Assets:
The Company follows the liability method of tax allocation in accounting for income taxes.
Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the consolidated financial statement carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. As at December 31,
2011 and 2010 and January 1, 2010, management determined, based upon the Company’s
historical level of taxable income and expectations for future taxable income, that it believed that
it was more likely than not that the Company will realize the full tax benefits of the non-capital
losses carried forward during the next several years. As such, the Company has recorded the
full deferred tax assets as at those dates.
Stock-based Compensation Expense/Warrants and Broker Warrants:
The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model (“B-S”) to calculate stock-based
compensation expense and the value of warrants and broker warrants issued as part of the
Company’s private placements. The B-S requires six key inputs to determine a value for an
option, warrant or broker warrant: risk free interest rate, exercise price, market price at date of
issue, expected dividend yield, expected life and expected volatility. Certain of the inputs are
estimates which involve considerable judgment and are, or could be, affected by significant
factors that are out of the Company’s control. For example, a longer expected life of the option
or a higher volatility number used would result in an increase in stock-based compensation
expense. The Company is also required to estimate the future forfeiture rate of options based
on historical information in its calculation of stock-based compensation expense.
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The following table summarizes stock options granted during the year ended December 31,
2011:
Date Granted
March 31, 2011
May 31, 2011
August 31, 2011
November 30, 2011
Total granted

Options Granted
1,705,000
250,000
250,000
1,840,000
4,045,000

Exercise Price
$
3.17
2.93
1.92
1.61

Expiry
March 30,
May 30,
August 30,
November 29,

2016
2016
2016
2016

The fair value of the options granted during the year ended December 31, 2011 was estimated
at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following
assumptions:
Black-Scholes assumptions used
Expected volatility (i)

71.1% - 117.5%

Expected dividend yield

0.0%

Risk-free interest rate

1.1% - 2.3%

Expected option life in years

2.4 - 3.8

Expected forfeiture rate

3.4% - 9.3%

Fair value per stock option granted on March 31, 2011

$

1.98

Fair value per stock option granted on May 31, 2011

$

1.74

Fair value per stock option granted on August 31, 2011

$

1.13

Fair value per stock option granted on November 30, 2011

$

0.92

(i)

Based on the historical volatility of Pinetree’s share price.

The following table summarizes stock options granted during the year ended December 31, 2010:
Date Granted
April 1, 2010
June 1, 2010
September 1, 2010
December 1, 2010
Total granted

Options Granted
265,000
1,252,500
250,000
250,000
2,017,500

Exercise Price
$
1.83
1.46
1.41
3.23

Expiry
March 31,
May 31,
August 31,
November 30,

2015
2015
2015
2015

The fair value of the options granted during the year ended December 31, 2010 was estimated at
the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions:
Black-Scholes assumptions used
Expected volatility (i)
Expected dividend yield
Risk-free interest rate
Expected option life in years
Expected forfeiture rate

102.6% - 109.7%
0.0%
2.25% - 3.0%
3.5
3.3% - 10.2%
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Fair value per stock option granted on April 1, 2010

$

1.24

Fair value per stock option granted on June 1, 2010

$

0.99

Fair value per stock option granted on September 1, 2010

$

0.96

Fair value per stock option granted on December 1, 2010

$

2.30

(i)

Based on the historical volatility of Pinetree’s share price.

Effective interest rate of convertible debentures
Convertible debentures are separated into their liability and equity components on the statement
of financial position. The liability component is initially recognized at fair value, calculated as the
net present value of the liability, based upon non-convertible debt issued by comparable issuers,
and accounted for at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.
On May 17, 2011, the Company issued the Debentures. The fair value of the liability component
at the time of issue was calculated as the discounted cash flows for the debentures assuming a
9.47% effective interest rate, which was the interest rate estimated by management for
comparable debentures without the conversion feature. The effective interest rate used by
management will affect the amount of the liability reported on the statement of financial
position, in so far as a higher rate will result in a lower recorded liability. Additionally, a higher
interest rate will result in a higher interest expense recorded in statement of comprehensive
income (loss).
Valuation of Unlisted Warrants of Public Companies:
The Company uses the B-S to calculate the fair value of unlisted warrants of public companies if
there are sufficient and reliable observable market inputs. If there’s no sufficient market inputs
available, the warrants are valued using their intrinsic value. B-S requires six key inputs: risk
free interest rate, exercise price, market price at date of issue, expected dividend yield, expected
life and expected volatility. The first four inputs are facts not estimates, while the expected life
and expected volatility are based on the Company’s estimates. For example, a longer expected
life of the warrant or a higher volatility number used would result in an increase in fair value of
the warrant. These estimates involve considerable judgment and are, or could be, affected by
significant factors that are out of the Company’s control.
Use of Non-GAAP Measures:
This MD&A contains references to “net asset value per share” (basic and diluted) (“NAV”) which
is a non-GAAP measure. NAV is calculated as the value of total assets less the value of total
liabilities divided by the total number of common shares outstanding as at a specific date. NAV
(diluted) is calculated as total assets less total liabilities divided by the total number of common
shares of the Company outstanding as at a specific date, calculated based upon the assumption
that all outstanding securities of the Company that are convertible into or exercisable for
common shares have been converted or exercised. The term NAV does not have any
standardized meaning according to GAAP and therefore may not be comparable to similar
measures presented by other companies. There is no comparable GAAP measure presented in
Pinetree’s consolidated financial statements and thus no applicable quantitative reconciliation for
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such non-GAAP financial measure. The Company has calculated NAV consistently for many years
and believes that the measure provides information useful to its shareholders in understanding
our performance, and may assist in the evaluation of the Company’s business relative to that of
its peers.
Additional Information:
Additional information relating to Pinetree Capital Ltd., including its annual information form for
the Company’s most recently completed financial year, is available under the Company’s profile
on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
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